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East End District

Lawsuit and Arbitration Status Detail as of  8/7/2020

Jur 976

 

Summary

Settled

3,380,238,970 Original value of Settled accounts as of 8/7/2020

1,489 Number of Settled accounts as of 8/7/2020

484,275,886 Reduction in value of Settled accounts

14.33% Average % reduction in value of Settled accounts

Unsettled

401,388,363 Original value of Unsettled accounts as of 8/7/2020

188 Number of Unsettled accounts as of 8/7/2020

.15 Tax rate per $100 valuation

$86,258 Estimated reduction in assessment on 188 Unsettled accounts,

based on 14.33% average

 

Historical data from Tax Years 2006 through 2013 were used to establish initial statistics for the

"average % reduction in value of Settled accounts."

F:\Company Info\Lawsuits\Lawsuit Status\East End Dist_976_LTS-Aug7 2020.xlsx

Revised 08 September 2020 page 1 of 1

prepared by: Equi-Tax Inc.

281.444.4866
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PERDUE, BRANDON, FIELDER, COLLINS & MOTT L.L.P. 

DELINQUENT ASSESSMENT REPORT 

EAST END DISTRICT  
October 22, 2020 

 

Amounts shown are 2019 base assessment amounts unless indicated.   

 

Suit filed: 

Gloria Ruby Salinas et al. 14-19 assessments $1,938.31, 4701 Sherman St.-0280310000013 

We intervened in a suit filed by Ovation Services, a tax lien loan company; a trial date 

was set for 5/22/20 but was cancelled due to COVID-19.  A new trial date has not yet 

been set.   

Houston Coating 99-07 assessments $1,852.50, 1923 Kolfahl St. (tracts 20B & 20E-1)-

0410070210066, 0410070210114 

Suit filed.  Judgment signed 12/1/08; the judgment is final.  The 2008 through 2019 

assessments (base assessment of $6,122.56) are due but are not included in the suit because 

they were not delinquent at the time of judgment.  This is a property believed to have 

environmental problems. 

Jose R. Chavez 12-19 assessments $1,851.52, 7140 Canal St.-0251430000051 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; we will monitor the case. 

Amos K. Mwangi 14-18 assessments $1,261.54, 2502 Garrow St.-1171810010003 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; judgment was signed 5/21/19.  The 

judgment is final; a judgment letter has been sent and an abstract of judgment has been 

filed.  Mr. Mwangi responded and discussed setting up a payment agreement but at the 

time this report was prepared, the agreement still had not been finalized.  A balance 

letter has been sent but there has been no response. The county has not set the property 

for tax sale because the county taxes have been paid. 

Tiburcia Martinez 14-19 assessments $1,206.45, 4801 Canal St.-0131040280001 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; judgment was signed on 9/4/20.  The 

judgment is final; we are sending a judgment letter and filing an abstract of judgment.  

The county will not set the property for tax sale because the county taxes have been 

paid. 

Rosemary Arizagacruz 11-19 assessments $1,120.94, 6831 Avenue T-0390920000007 

Suit filed; judgment was signed on 10/12/16.  The judgment submitted by the county 

did not include the Greater East End Management District so we filed a motion for a 

new trial.  Our motion was granted and judgment was submitted on 8/18/17; the new 

judgment was signed on 10/16/17 and the judgment is final.  A judgment letter has been 

sent but there has been no response.  The county filed a new suit for the 2017 through 

2019 taxes and we have intervened on behalf of the District; judgment was signed on 

2/28/20.  The judgment is final; a judgment letter has been sent and we have filed an 

abstract of judgment. 

Josefina Munoz 14-19 assessments $1,049.95, 6648 Avenue C-0390090000001 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; judgment was submitted on 8/24/20. 

Joe Romero $908.51, 3601 Navigation Blvd.-0260920000011 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; we will monitor the case. 

Jose I. Sandova 14-17 assessments $887.22, 754 Telephone Rd.-0410070100058 

Suit filed; judgment was signed 9/20/16 and included the 2014 and 2015 assessments.  

The judgment is final; a judgment letter has been sent but there has been no response.  

The county filed a new suit for the 2016 and 2017 taxes; we intervened on behalf of the 
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District and judgment was signed on 10/16/18.  The judgment is final; we have sent a 

judgment letter but there has been no response.  The county has not set the property for 

tax sale because the county taxes included in the judgment have been paid. 

Hector C. Quintero 14-18 assessments $867.07, 7640 Harrisburg Blvd.-0252240000045 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county.  Judgment was signed on 12/9/19; the 

judgment is final.  A judgment letter has been sent and an abstract of judgment has been 

filed. 

Heirs of Charles B. & Frances Corona 16-19 assessments $780.65, Tracts 27, 28 and 29 on 

Kemp St.-0231050000027 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; we will monitor the case. 

Victor M. & Ana Jimenez 13-18 assessments $678.38, 7707 Avenue L-0251850000021 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; judgment was signed 10/8/19.  The 

judgment is final; a judgment letter has been sent and an abstract of judgment has been 

filed. 

Veronica M. Moreno & Freddy D. Montes, Jr. 16-19 assessments $655.89, 8306 La Porte Rd.-

0331490010003 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; we will monitor the case. 

Gloria Ruby Salinas et al. 17-19 assessments $631.80, 4705 Sherman St.-0280310000012 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; we will monitor the case. 

Church of Jesus Christ House of Prayer Inc. 14-15 assessments $603.70, 501 72nd St.-

0251330000001 

Suit filed.  Judgment was signed on 12/16/16; the judgment is final.  A judgment letter 

has been sent but there has been no response. We have filed an abstract of judgment.   

The property has a total exemption as of 12/17/15. 

Armando & Maria E. Uriarte 18-16 assessments $517.25, 7532 Tremper St. & 1326 N. 

Wayside Dr.-0181420000015, 0401900020080 

We intervened in a suit filed by the county; we will monitor the case. 

HIS Place Center 18-19 assessments $474.49, 700 Telephone Rd. (omitted improvements)-

0410070100095 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; we will monitor the case. 

Ernesto Izaguirre 18-19 assessments $419.59, 6528 Harrisburg Blvd.-0610810010001 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; we will monitor the case. 

Carlos S. & Toni Tristan 18-19 taxes $419.11, 6706 Capitol St.-0250640000003 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; we will monitor the case. 

Victor M. & Ana Jimenez 13-19 assessments $274.83, Lots 23 & 24 Block 104 on Avenue L-

0251850000023 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; we will monitor the case. 

Arturo Martinez 17-18 assessments $234.08, 3614 Navigation Blvd.-0260750000003 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county.  A trial date was set for 6/12/20 but 

was cancelled due to COVID-19; a new trial date will be set. The 2019 assessments are 

paid in full. 

Maria Pinzon & Oscar Rodriguez 14-19 assessments $213.76, 7446 Avenue P-0252070000045 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county. Judgment was to be submitted on 

2/28/20 but the county filed a motion for continuance.  A new hearing date was set for 

6/12/20 but was also cancelled due to COVID-19; a new hearing date will be set. 

Soledad Castillo $208.10, 6003 Harrisburg Blvd.-0371700010014 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; judgment was signed 3/4/20.  The 

judgment is final; a judgment letter has been sent and an abstract of judgment has been 
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filed.  One of the owners called on 6/5/20 and requested payoff information which we 

provided. 

Jokonda S. Almont 18-19 assessments $196.03, 1207 75th St.-0251880000001 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; judgment was signed on 8/18/20.  The 

judgment is final; we have sent a judgment letter. 

J. H. Tampke 14-18 assessments $176.25, 911 Parsons St.-0161780000007 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; judgment was signed 1/27/20.  The 

judgment is final; a judgment letter has been sent.  The county has received an order of 

sale but a sale date has not been set at this time; we will monitor the case. 

JLMC Real Estate Development LLC 15 assessments $174.09, 2603 Canal St.-0231010000007 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; a trial date was set for 3/22/17 but was 

passed because the county taxes were paid in full. We sent a balance letter to the 

property owners, but they failed to pay or respond so we took the lead in the suit; 

judgment was signed on 1/2/18.  The judgment is final; a judgment letter has been sent 

but there has been no response; we have filed an abstract of judgment. 

Elia P. Perez & Arturo Netro 15 assessments $170.87, 7915 Leander St. (lot 11)-

0131780000011 

Suit filed.  Judgment signed on 7/25/16; the judgment is final.   They committed to pay in 3 

installments; 2 payments have been received.  We spoke to Perez again on 10/23/19 and she 

requested an emailed statement, which we sent.  On 3/2/20, we sent her statements for six 

additional accounts that were not included in the suit.  The 2016 through 2019 assessments 

are due but are not included in the suit because they were not delinquent at the time of 

judgment.  We called but the person who answered disconnected the call when we explained 

why we were calling. 

Jose Campa $136.50, Lot 4 & Tract 3 Block 25 on Clifton St.-0150330000003 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; we will monitor the case. 

Felipe Perez & Nora Castillo $119.81, 400 Medina St.-0160950010007 

We have intervened in a suit filed by the county; we will monitor the case. 

So Youn Youn 06-16 assessments $116.30. 7434 J. W. Peavy Dr.-0291910000009 

Suit filed.  Judgment was signed on 7/28/17; the judgment is final.  A judgment letter has 

been sent but there has been no response; an abstract of judgment has been filed.  The 

county taxes are still due, but the county has not set the property for tax sale at this time. 

C. W. Hanslip 01-12 assessments $94.12, Tract 21 C on Wayside Dr.-0410070380015 

Suit filed.  Judgment signed 12/2/13; the judgment is final.  The county set the property for 

tax sale on 5/3/16 but the sale was cancelled.  No reason was given for the cancellation, but 

we believe it is because the property appears to be a worthless sliver of landlocked 

property.  The county set the property for tax sale again on 7/3/18; that sale was also 

cancelled. 

I U International Corp. 99-09 assessments $74.25, Lot 48 Block 28 Magnolia Park Section 2-

0251210000050 

Suit filed.  Judgment signed 3/7/11; the judgment is final.  The county set the property for 

tax sale on 5/3/16 and on 8/7/18 but the sales were cancelled; no reason was given for the 

cancellations.  The property is a small 2500 square foot tract in the shape of a triangle at the 

intersection of Avenue E and S. 74th St.   

Annette Reyna 15-16 assessments $68.16, Tract 6 B Shipman Labor on Telephone Rd.-

0410070350008 

Suit filed; judgment was signed 8/15/17. The judgment is final; a judgment letter has 

been sent.   On 3/14/17, Reyna called our office and asked for a payoff balance.  Reyna 
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said the account would be paid shortly but it is still due.  We have filed an abstract of 

judgment. 

 

Payment plans: 

Folwell Holdings LLC (was Normco Leasing Co.) 10-18 assessments $4,474.09, 900 78th St.-

0251620000001 

We intervened in a suit filed by the county but the case was dismissed.  They have a 

payment agreement with the assessment office.  The 2019 assessments are paid. 

Rey Del Pollo Inc. #4 18-19 assessments $1,030.88, 7170 Lawndale St.-0410300000390 

They have a payment agreement with the assessment office. 

Domingo B. Ortuno & Antonia Alsonzo 16-19 assessments $505.68, 206 Milby St.-

0540490000022 

They have a payment agreement with the assessment office. 

Rodolfo & Hilda Guzman $298.64, 7207 Bowie St.-0601250060004 

They have a payment agreement with the assessment office. 

Mike Hoang Quach 17-19 assessments $242.52, 7903 Leander St.-0131780000026 

He has a payment agreement with the assessment office.   

Tomas & Tomasa A. Guajardo $201.34, 1303 Lansing St.-0121290040001 

They have a payment agreement with the assessment office. 

 

Paid in full: 

Aslam Property, Inc. $2,884.41, 6630 & 6628 Gulf Fwy-0410300000164, 0410300000165 

Edmundo G. & Maria E. Elizalde $2,555.10, 3801 Garrow St.-0220440000019 

Raymundo Nino 12-19 assessments $1,867.07, 7210 Hemlock St.-0402330000184 

Damascus Development LLC $444.45, 235 Adams St.-0280160000009 

Jesus A. Ramirez 14-19 assessments $331.44, 7938 Elwood St.-0252370000049 

Palemon & Cecilia Soto $266.77, 2440 Canal St.-0371400000008 

Jesus A. Ramirez 14 assessments $39.00, 7942 Elwood St.-0252370000053 

 

2019 accounts: 

Contanda Terminals LLC $31,379.20, 7600 J W Peavy Dr. (improvements only)-0402310000001 

They have filed suit against the appraisal district and they paid the estimated 

assessments due; we will monitor the suit. 

Nav Properties LLC $12,656.72, 3100 Canal St. & 2 tracts on Commerce St.-0230940000001, 

0372000010042 

They have filed suit against the appraisal district however they failed to pay the 

estimated assessments due. There has been no response to our demand letter or phone 

calls. 

Normex Investments Inc. $4,733.07, 6414 Harrisburg Blvd., 7245 Harrisburg Blvd. (2 

accounts), 7024 & 7026 Lawndale St., 1920 SSgt Macario Garcia Dr. & Lots 27 & 28 Block 

182 on Avenue T-0610810020001, 0252450030001, 0251010000001, 0410300000015, 

0410300000010, 0390870820025, 0390870820027 

There has been no response to our demand letters; we have called multiple times and 

left messages but they have not returned our calls.  We are continuing collection efforts. 

• In addition to other 2019 accounts listed on this report, there are 131 delinquent 

accounts with base assessments ranging from $4 to $2,640.  Demand letters have been sent, we 

are trying to reach each owner by phone and we are contacting lienholders, where appropriate.   
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Other accounts: 

Judith Wiederkehr et al.  17-19 assessments $17,732.88, 7525 & 7425 Sherman St.-

0251090000023, 0251200000003 

They filed suit against the appraisal district on the 2017 valuation of the property, but 

the case was dismissed.  We sent a demand letter, an emailed statement, and we left a 

voice mail message but there has been no response.  They have now filed suit against 

the appraisal district on the 2018 and 2019 valuations of the property; we are 

monitoring the case.   

• In addition to other accounts listed on this report, there are 96 property owners delinquent 

for assessment years prior to 2019.  Base assessments due range from $12 to $3,209; these 

amounts include 2019 assessments if they are also due. Demand letters have been sent and we are 

attempting to contact each owner by phone. We are also contacting mortgage companies, where 

appropriate.   

 

As of 8/14/20, there were 293 delinquent property owners with base assessments due of $231,571.75. 

As of 9/11/20, there were 264 delinquent property owners with base assessments due of $215,871.96. 

As of 10/9/20, there were 263 delinquent property owners with base assessments due of $209,103.28. 

  

 

 

 

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. 
 

 
Carl O. Sandin 

 

 
 

Email:  csandin@pbfcm.com  

Office:  713-802-6965 (Direct Line) 

Mobile: 713-824-1290 

Fax:      713-862-1429  
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Request for Appointment to Board of Directors  

 

The purpose of this memorandum is to provide information to Request Appointment of Anna Deans to 

East End District Board of Directors, Position 1.  

Background 

On July 23, 2020, District staff received a notice of resignation from Bryson Grover, Director, 
Position 1. This resignation leaves a vacancy for a term expiring June 1st of 2021.   

State law allows for the EED Board to appoint a Director to a position to complete the remainder of 
an unexpired term. Required qualifications include a person must be at least 18 years old and a 
resident of the district, owner of property in the district, an owner of stock of a corporate owner of 
property in the district, or an agent, employee, or tenant of a person covered. 

As Vice President, Investment & Development for Midway, Anna Deans manages the delivery of 
projects, including East River.   

 
Staff Recommendation 

Staff recommends consideration of Anna Deans to the East End District Board of Directors. A biography 

and supporting material are included for your information. Staff requests the appointment become 

effective Thursday, October 22, 2020. 
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Anna Deans 
Vice President, Investment and Development 

 

As Vice President, Investment and Development for Midway, Anna manages the concept 

development, design and delivery of new construction projects.  

 

With a majority of her experience in mixed-use development, Anna provides tremendous 

insight and perspective to large, complex projects. Her emphasis and expertise lie within 

efficiency of design, functionality, and project management. Her passion is to collaborate 

and develop the initial vision for a project while understanding the implications of cost, 

constructability, phasing, project constraints and requirements to make the concept a 

reality.  

 
As Vice President and Investment Manager, one of Deans’ primary focuses is Midway’s 

East River project, 150 acres of carefully designed, multi-phase, mixed-use development 

that will transform Houston’s waterfront east of Downtown into a new economic center. 

Deans oversees all commercial and multifamily development for East River, from inception 

to delivery of the vertical, to ensure the entirety of the project is aligned with Midway’s 

investment strategy. 

 
Prior to joining Midway, Anna developed mixed-use properties for Thor Equities and earlier 

in her career was a design architect for Gensler. She holds a Bachelor of Architecture 

degree from the University of Texas, Austin and is a LEED accredited licensed architect in 

the state of Texas. 

 

 

18



DISTRICT REGISTRATION FORM  
 

When completed, mail to: 
UTILITIES AND DISTRICTS SECTION, MC-152 
TCEQ 
PO BOX 13087 
AUSTIN, TX 78711-3087 or fax to:  512-239-6190 

Legal Name of District or Authority: (As of May 24, 2018) East End District  
District Mailing Address:  P.O. Box 230099   
City:  Houston       State:  Texas       Zip:  77223   
Telephone Number:  (713) 928-9916       Email: hello@eastenddistrict.com   
District’s Web Address: www.eastenddistrict.com   

 
A. BOARD MEMBERS (as applicable):  

TITLE  
FULL NAME OF 

DIRECTOR 
(First, Middle, Last) 

FULL MAILING ADDRESS 
(According to U.S. Post Office Standards) 

TELEPHONE NUMBERS TERM OF OFFICE 

Business Fax  Home 
Elected (E) 

Appointed (A) 
Elected by 
Precinct (P)  

Term Begins 
(mm/dd/yyyy)  

Term Ends 
(mm/dd/yyyy)  

Director 
(Position 1) Vacant 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915  A N/A 06/01/2021 

Asst. Secretary 
(Position 2) Blanca Blanco 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915  A 06/01/2017 06/01/2021 

Treasurer, 
(Position 3) Stephen Quezada 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915  A 06/01/2017 06/01/2021 

Director, 
(Position 4) William McConnell 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915  A 06/01/2017 06/01/2021 

Director 
(Position 5) Dominic Laurenzo 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915  A 06/01/2017 06/01/2021 

 

B. CONSULTANTS AND REPRESENTATIVES (as applicable):  

POSITION  FULL NAME OF INDIVIDUAL NAME OF FIRM OR ORGANIZATION FULL MAILING ADDRESS 
(According to U.S. Post Office Standards) 

TELEPHONE NUMBERS 

Business Fax  

President Veronica Chapa Groczynski East End District 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915 

Attorney Laura C. Davis SKLaw 1980 Post Oak Blvd., Suite 1380, Houston, TX 77056 (713) 850-9000 (713) 850-1330 

Delinquent Tax 
Attorney Donald B. Roseman Perdue Brandon Fielder Collins & Mott‚ LLP 1235 N. Loop W.‚ Ste. 600, Houston, TX 77008 (713) 862-1860 (713) 862-1429 

C.P.A. Justine Townsend Your Part-Time Controller, LLC 2603 Augusta Dr., Ste 1075, Houston, TX 77057 (281) 245-0345 (215) 670-2076 

Insurance  Ronald Karkowsky Pasadena Insurance Agency, Inc. 99 Detering #280, Houston, TX 77007 (713) 869-6991  

Insurance Larry Burnside Texas Municipal League Intergovernmental Risk Pool 1821 Rutherford Ln., 1st Fl, Austin, TX 78754 (512) 491-2300 (512) 491-2311 

Assessment 
Collector Kenneth R. Byrd Equi-Tax Inc. 17111 Rolling Creek Dr, Ste. 200, Houston, TX 77090 (281) 444-3946  

      

      

      

 
*All information provided herein is subject to the Public Information Act and will be made available on our web site (www.tceq.texas.gov) 

 

 
 
 
 
TCEQ-0179 Rev.09/2013                  Page 1 of 2  
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DISTRICT REGISTRATION FORM (continued) 

A. BOARD MEMBERS: (continued) 

TITLE  FULL NAME OF DIRECTOR 
(First, Middle, Last) 

FULL MAILING ADDRESS 
(According to U.S. Post Office Standards) 

TELEPHONE NUMBERS TERM OF OFFICE  

 Business Fax Home 
Elected (E) 

Appointed (A) 
Elected by 

Precinct (P)  

Term Begins 
(mm/dd/yyyy) 

Term Ends 
(mm/dd/yyyy) 

Chair, 
Position 6 Joe Meppelink 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915  A 06/01/2017 06/01/2021 

Director, 
Position 7 Lani Baker 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915  A 09/24/2020 06/01/2021 

Director 
Position 8 Jose Valdez 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915  A 06/01/2019 06/01/2023 

Director, 
Position 9 Devin Licata 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915  A 06/01/2019 06/01/2023 
Director, 
Position 10 Vacant 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915  A 06/01/2019 06/01/2023 
Secretary, 
Position 11 Taryn Sims 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915  A 06/01/2019 06/01/2023 
Director, 
Position 12 Elliot Barner 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915  A 06/01/2019 06/01/2023 
Director, 
Position 13 Vacant 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915  A N/A 06/01/2023 
Director, 
Position 14 Marjorie (Margie) Peña 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915  A 06/01/2019 06/01/2023 
Director, 
Position 15 Susan C. Sahwani-Garcia 3211 Harrisburg Blvd., Houston, TX 77003 (713) 928-9916 (713) 928-2915  A 06/01/2019 06/01/2023 

 
 CERTIFICATION:  I certify that the information contained herein is correct and complete to the best of my knowledge. 
 
  Laura Davis, Attorney for the District  (713) 850-9000    
Signature Printed Name and Title Telephone Number Date Signed 
 
 
If you have any questions on how to fill out this form or about the Water Districts program, please contact us at 512/239-4691.  Individuals are entitled to request and review their personal 
information that the agency gathers on its forms.  They may also have any errors in their information corrected.  To review such information contact us at 512/239-3282. 
 
 
C. ADDITIONAL STATUTORY REQUIREMENTS (Texas Water Code): 
 

1. Requirements generally applicable to most districts and authorities: 
a. §49.055(d). File copies of directors’ sworn statements, bonds, and oaths with the 

District’s records.  File copies of director’s sworn statements and oaths with the 
Secretary of State within 10 days. 

b. §36.054(e) and §49.054(f).  Files names mailing addresses and terms of new directors 
with TCEQ within 30 days after election or appointment. 

c. Audit and financial reports: 
(1) §49.194(a). File audit with the TCEQ within 135 days of fiscal year end, or  

§49.197(d). File financial dormancy affidavit with the TCEQ by January 31, or  
§49.198(c). File annual financial report with the TCEQ within 45 days of fiscal. 

(2) §49.194(c). File audit, financial dormancy affidavit, or financial report with the 
District’s records. 

(3) §49.194(d). Submit annual filing affidavit to the TCEQ with either audit, financial 
dormancy affidavit, or financial report. 

(4) §49.158. Notify the TCEQ of adoption of a fiscal year within 30 days of financial 
activity or after a change in the District’s fiscal year. 

d. §49.199(a). Adopt a code of ethics and other policies and procedures. 
 

2. Requirements applicable to certain districts and authorities, as specified in the statutes: 
a. §49.055(d). File with the TCEQ the name, address, and telephone number of the District’s Agent for 

Notice, the person responsible for issuing forms to comply wit h the Notice to Purchaser requirements 
of  §49.052. 

b. §49.055.  File information form and map, or any amendments, with each county and the TCEQ. 
c. §49.451.  Post district name signs at two entrances to the District within 30 days of the District’s 

creation. 
e. §49.062. Publish and file with the TCEQ a resolution establishing a meeting place 
f. §49.307(b), §49.301(f) & §49.302.  File orders excluding and annexing land with the TCEQ and in the 

deed records of each county (ies) in which the District is situated.  
 
Texas Statutes can be viewed at http://www.capitol.state.tx.us/  

 

 
 
 
 
TCEQ-0179 Rev.09/2013                  Page 2 of 2 
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EAST END DISTRICT 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors  

September 24, 2020 

 

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the East End District (the “District” or “EED”) met 

in regular session, open to the public, via video/audio conference on Thursday, September 24, 

2020, at 3:30 p.m. The video/audio conference meeting was authorized pursuant to the March 16, 

2020 Declaration by the Governor of the State of Texas, which suspended certain provisions of 

Chapter 551, Texas Government Code, in response to the Coronavirus (COVID-19) disaster. The 

Governor’s Proclamation permitted governmental bodies to conduct meetings via telephone or 

videoconference to advance the public health goal of limiting face-to-face meetings (also called 

“social distancing”) to slow the spread of the COVID-19.  The roll was called of the members of 

the Board, to-wit: 

 

Position 1 Vacant 

Position 2 Blanca Blanco   Assistant Secretary 

Position 3 Stephen Quezada  Treasurer  

Position 4 William McConnell   

Position 5 Domenic Laurenzo 

Position 6 Joe Meppelink   Chairman  

Position 7 Vacant 

Position 8 Jose Valdez 

Position 9 Devin Licata 

Position 10 Vacant 

Position 11 Taryn Sims   Secretary 

Position 12 Elliot Barner 

Position 13 Vacant 

Position 14 Marjorie Peña 

Position 15  Susan Sahwani-Garcia 

 

and all of the above were present, thereby establishing a quorum. 

Also present during all or part of the meeting were Veronica Chapa Gorczynski, the District’s 

President; Eva Quiroz, the District’s Administrative Services Manager; Dan Joyce, the District’s 

Director of Marketing & Communications; Martin Chavez, the District’s Director of Constituent 

Services; Sergeant Maldonado of Harris County Precinct 6 (“Precinct 6”); Patrick Ezzell of Coastal 

Builders (“CB”); Justine Townsend of Your Part-Time Controller, LLC; Carl Sandin of Perdue 

Brandon Fielder Collins & Mott, LLP (“Perdue Brandon”); Pat Hall of Equi-Tax, Inc.; Sherry 

Weesner on behalf of Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone 15 (“TIRZ 15”); Lani Baker; Monica 

Aizpurua and Lupe Gonzalez, members of the public; and Laura Davis and Judy Marcantel of 

Sanford Kuhl Hagan Kugle Parker Kahn LLP. 

 

Item 1. Receive Public Comments in accordance with adopted procedures. 

 

There were no public comments. 
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Item 2. Assessments. Receive report on collection of assessments and authorize appropriate 

action. 

 

Ms. Townsend presented the delinquent assessment report. She reported that the District's 

2019 assessments were 95% collected as of August 31, 2020.  

 

Mr. Sandin reviewed the delinquent assessment report. No action was taken.  

 

Item 3. Appointment of Directors. Declare vacancies, if appropriate; and appoint directors to 

Board. 

 

President Gorczynski next discussed appointment of Lani Baker to fill the vacancy of Position 7. 

After discussion, Director Peña moved to appoint Ms. Baker to Position 7 of the Board. Director 

McConnell seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

 

Item 4. Appointment of Committee Members. 

 

President Gorczynski reminded the Board that in order to streamline committee appointments, the 

District will consider each January all committee appointments.  

 

Item 5. Minutes. Approve minutes of previous Board meeting(s). 

 

The Board next considered approving the minutes of the September 3, 2020, meeting. Director 

Blanco moved to approve the minutes of the September 3, 2020, special Board meeting, as 

presented. Director Sims seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

 

Item 6. Security Report. Receive security report related to Precinct 6 Security contract. 

 

Sergeant Maldonado of Precinct 6 reported on criminal activity in the District. He reported 

that Precinct 6 is receiving an average of 168 calls per week.  No action was necessary. 

 

Item 12. District Assessment Roll/Public Hearing. Receive report from Equi-Tax, Inc., receive 

updated certified values (as determined by the Harris County Appraisal District) for assessable 

property within the District, consider whether to hold a public hearing in accordance with the 

District’s Service Plan in order to supplement the District’s assessment roll to add new or 

additional value in the District, authorize District staff and consultants to take all necessary and 

appropriate action in connection with holding a public hearing, and authorize appropriate action. 

 

This item was taken out of order. President Gorczynski presented a request for consideration to 

hold a public hearing to capture additional assessments. She explained that the total approximate 

value of supplemental accounts is $97,759.68, and that the District must provide notice of and hold 

a public hearing in order to capture the additional assessments. She stated that the cost for a Public 

Hearing has historically been $6,400.00.  

 

After discussion, Director Quezada moved to authorize a public hearing to be conducted to capture 

the $97,759.68 of assessment revenue, and to authorize District staff and consultants to take 
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appropriate action related to the hearing. Director Blanco seconded the motion, which passed 

unanimously. 

 

 

Item 7. Financial Reports. Receive and approve the Treasurer's reports on revenues and 

expenditures, the investment report and the Finance Committee report, and authorize appropriate 

action. 

 

Ms. Townsend presented and reviewed with the Board the monthly Financial Reports for 

August 31, 2020; the District's investment report for August 2020; and the Leverage Log of 

Match, Grants and In-Kind Funds 2019-2020 (collectively, the “Reports”). After discussion, 

Director McConnell moved to approve the Reports, as presented. Director Quezada seconded 

the motion, which passed unanimously. 

 

Item 8. Budget for Fiscal Year 2020-2021. Consider and adopt a budget for Fiscal Year 

2020-2021 and take appropriate action.  

 

President Gorczynski presented a memorandum providing details to support the District’s working 

budget for fiscal year ending September 30, 2021, showing a budget decrease of $48,519. 

 

After discussion, Director McConnell moved to adopt the working draft budget for the fiscal year 

ending September 30, 2021. Director Licata seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

 

Item 9.  Services Agreement with Coastal Builders. Review presentation on historical and projected 

projects. Approve Amendment 16 to Services Agreement with Coastal Builders, and authorize 

appropriate action. 

Mr. Ezzell presented on historical and projected projects in the District performed by Coastal 

Builders. Ms. Davis discussed the amended agreement with the Board. After discussion, 

Director Valdez moved to approve Amendment 16 to Services Agreement with Coastal 

Builders, as presented. Director Peña seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

Item 10. Joint Projects Agreement with Urban Partnerships Community Development 

Corporation. Receive presentation on historical and projected projects and authorize 

appropriate action. 

Mr. Ezzell next presented on historical and projected projects in the District performed by 

Urban Partnerships Community Development Corporation (“UPCDC”).  No action was 

necessary. 

Item 11. Ratify Request to Transfer Funding. Ratify authorization for Executive Director to 

Request Houston-Galveston Area Council’s Transfer of Previously Awarded Federal Funding to 

the Federal Transit Administration.  

President Gorczynski presented a written request to the Houston-Galveston Area Council 

regarding initiating the transfer of Congestion Mitigation Air Quality funding from the Federal 

Highway Administration (FHWA) to the Federal Transit Administration (FTA).   
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After discussion, Director Blanco moved to ratify authorization for President Gorczynski to 

request Houston-Galveston Area Council’s transfer of previously awarded federal funding to the 

FTA. Director Quezada seconded the motion, which passed unanimously.  

Item 13. President's Report - District Overview. Receive the President's report on the following 

District programs and authorize appropriate action: 

 

President Gorczynski advised the Board that the report is in the meeting documents for their 

review.  

 

Item 14. Adjourn. 

The meeting was adjourned at 5:33 p.m. 

 

 
 

      ____________________________________ 

      East End District 
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EASTSIDE DIVISION
COMMANDER ELIZABETH LORENZANA
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YEAR-TO-DAY
JANUARY 2020 - OCTOBER 2020 
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JULY 2020 – OCTOBER 2020
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SEPTEMBER 15TH-OCTOBER 14TH
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EAST END DISTRICT

PUBLIC SAFETY INITIATIVE

THANK YOU

CRIME REDUCTION EFFORTS
• SUPPRESSION 

• ENFORCEMENT

• PREVENTION

• CPTED
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UNAUDITED    1 | P a g e  

MEMORANDUM            
TO:  Veronica Chapa Gorczynski, President  
FROM:  Justine Townsend, YPTC Associate 
DATE:  October 12, 2020 
SUBJECT: Financial Reports for the Month and Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020   
 
Financial Reports Included: 
Dashboard 

 Financial Position Dashboard – Page 4 
Financial Statements 

 Governmental Funds Balance Sheet - Pages 5-6 
 Statement of Governmental Fund Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Month 

Ended September 30, 2020 - Page 7 
 Statement of Governmental Fund Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances –  Fiscal Year 

Ended September 30, 2020 - Page 8 
 Governmental Funds Statement of Cash Flows – Page 9 

Required Supplementary Information 
 Budgetary Comparison Schedules – Month Ended September 30, 2020 – Page 11 
 Budgetary Comparison Schedule – Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020 – Page 12 

      Supplementary Information 
 Changes in Fund Balance of Assigned and Committed Funds – Page 14 
 Schedule of Capital Asset Activity – Page 15 
 Investment Report – Page 16 
 Accounts Receivable – Top Five Balances – Page 17 

 
IMPORTANT NOTES AND RESULTS: 

As this is year-end, and all invoices and commitments have not yet been received, the financial 
reports contained herein should be considered drafts, until the audit report and final results are 
presented. 

The total cash balance at the end of September was $1,782,360. This was an increase of $168,947 from the 
starting cash balance on October 1, 2019, however $87,452 of this increase is due to Workforce 
development grants which were not distributed prior to September 30, 2020.  

 

$1,782,360 
$1,609,948 

$997,570 

$1,357,350 
$1,707,429 

$2,085,428 

 $-

 $500,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,500,000

 $2,000,000

 $2,500,000

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Total Cash Balance September 30th -
(2015 - 2020)

Outliers from 2016 - 2018 were due to revenues 
a for TIGER and TIP projects
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UNAUDITED    2 | P a g e  

IMPORTANT NOTES AND RESULTS (continued): 

The total increase to fund balance as of the end of this fiscal year was $217,327, however, this is NOT final. 
There will be invoices received and grant billings issued prior to the following drafts being finalized for the 
audit. The graph below compares the YTD September 2020 results to the final audited results of the previous 
five years. Please see the variance explanations below and the Changes in Fund Balance report on page 14 for 
more details.   

 

KEY VARIANCES DISCUSSION: 

Explanations for significant departures (total net variance exceeds $5k) from budget during the fiscal 
year ended September 30, 2020 are categorized by timing and realized variances: 

 

$217,327 
$369,418 

$(42,605) $(173,183) $(494,743)

$1,019,542 

 $(600,000)

 $(400,000)

 $(200,000)

 $-

 $200,000

 $400,000

 $600,000

 $800,000

 $1,000,000

 $1,200,000

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

September YTD Changes in Fund Balance 
(2015 - 2020)

Change in Fund Balances

Outliers from 2016 - 2018 were due to 
expenses for TIGER and TIP projects

Outlier in 
2019 due to 

revenue
from HAA, 
TIRZ, and 
METRO 

grants

 $(50,000)  $-  $50,000  $100,000  $150,000  $200,000

FAVORABLE TIMING VARIANCES

FAVORABLE REALIZED VARIANCES

UNFAVORABLE REALIZED VARIANCES

Summary of  Variances by Department and Type

Expenses - Livable Center Expenses - Workforce Development

Expenses - Program Support Services Expenses - Visual & Infrastructure Improvement

Expenses - Marketing & Perception Expenses - Security & Public Safety

Revenue - Street Markets Revenue - Outsourced Services

Revenue - Grants Revenue - Assessments
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UNAUDITED    3 | P a g e  

 EXPENSE TIMING VARIANCES 
 Marketing and perception favorable variances of $22,545 will be reduced by the amount of 

the legal services for the garage contract. The final invoices for this activity have not yet been 
received.  

 Livable centers expenditures favorable variance of $167,880 will be reduced by the final 
invoices to be received for the Hagerman sidewalks, roundabout, and garage projects work 
completed in September.  

 Workforce development expenditures favorable variance of $87,452 is due to delayed 
payment of the workforce development grants. These will be recorded in September 2020 
upon receipt, though they will be distributed in October 2020. 
 

REVENUE REALIZED VARIANCES 
 Assessments unfavorable variance was due to reduced collections, which improved over the 

last few months of the fiscal year. The potential for the shortfall was conservatively projected 
to be as much as $32,000, last month. However, the shortfall was only $9,343. This was offset 
by expense savings realized by management.  

 Grants favorable variance of $52,709 was due to additional grant funds provided by the TIRZ 
for the Roundabout construction. 

 Outsourced services favorable variance of $50,891 was due to increased activity and an 
increase in authorized work on the City of Houston contract. 

 Street markets unfavorable variance of $27,030 was due to the pandemic and resulting 
extended closure of the Esplanade for gatherings including the Sunday Farmer’s Market, last 
Friday Nights, and rentals for events. The market reopened for Sunday Farmer’s Market 
activities only on September 13, 2020. 

 
 EXPENSE REALIZED VARIANCES 

 Security and public safety unfavorable variance of $19,936 was due to significant truck 
repair costs for the 2011 Isuzu and overtime payroll, offset by increased revenue. Additionally, 
the $50,891 favorable revenue variance allowed the District to partner with law enforcement 
to provide funding for a new Cantina initiative to reduce crime rates in the District.  

 Marketing and perception favorable variance of $34,655 was due to less bonus and payroll 
expenses than budgeted and decisions to cut the truck wraps from the current year budget to 
offset potential assessment revenue shortfalls.  

 Visual and infrastructure improvements favorable variance of $90,415 was due to cost 
savings in payroll, the canceled street market and special project activities. The unfavorable 
variance is due to the expense associated with the in-kind donation of $8,000 of trees from 
Trees for Houston; this is offset by in-kind revenue recognized in “Other” revenue. 

 Program support services favorable variance of $56,806 was due to less rent; utilities; 
personnel services; public hearing; and payroll expenses than budgeted.  
 
 

Please let me know if you would like any additional information about the attached financial statements. 
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*Examples of phases: Plans, Studies, Engineering, Construction, etc

EAST END DISTRICT - FINANCIAL POSITION DASHBOARD

$784,946 $997,415 

Total Cash Balance of  $1,782,360 by Fund Type

Infrastructure/Capital Improvement Funds Operations

Capital Improvement Funds -
UNALLOCATED

$173,085 

Capital Improvement Funds -
Roundabout

$351,448 

Capital Improvement Funds -
Harrisburg Parking Garage

$24,000 

Capital Improvement Funds - Bike 
Plan / Infrastructure

$75,000 

Capital Improvement Funds -
Sidewalks
$(182,843)

Designated Funds
$237,000 

Contingency 
$107,256 

Infrastructure/Capital Improvement 
Cash Balances by Purpose

Capital Asset Replacement
$70,000 

Cultural District 
activities
$(34,455)

Building Pre-
Development

$26,597 

Prepaid Costs
$(35,445)

Budget 
Stabilization 

$291,506 

UNALLOCATED
$679,208 

Operations Cash Balance by Purpose

Avg Monthly Cash Outlays 
- Operations:

$288,921
Avg Months Cash 

Available to Continue 
Operations in Emergency:

3 months

Avg Funds Required to Leverage 
Partner Investment per Project 

Phase:

$82,465
Avg Number of Potential Project 

Phases - Cash Available:

5 projects

Unaudited 
No assurances provided
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EAST END DISTRICT

Financial Statements

For the Month and Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020
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General 
Operating

Capital 
Projects Total

Assets
Checking/Savings

Frost - Checking 137,676$             -$                    137,676$             
Frost - Money Market 1,332,254            -                      1,332,254            
Frost - FTA Checking 13,147                -                      13,147                
Space City - Money Market 250,000              -                      250,000              
Space City - Savings 5                         -                      5                         
TexPool 48,027                -                      48,027                
Petty Cash 1,250                  -                      1,250                  

Total Checking/Savings 1,782,360            -                      1,782,360            
Accounts Receivable

Assessments 210,002              -                      210,002              
Graffiti 74,465                -                      74,465                
Grants 37,000                171,723              208,723              

East End Improvement Corporation 4,263                  -                      4,263                  
Other Receivables 7,194                  -                      7,194                  

Total Accounts Receivable 332,924              171,723              504,647              

Other Current Assets
Prepaid Security Patrol 35,445                -                      35,445                
Internal Balances 544,361              (544,361)             -                      

Total Other Current Assets 579,807              (544,361)             35,445                

Total Assets 2,695,090$          (372,638)$            2,322,452$          

East End District
Governmental Funds Balance Sheet
September 30, 2020

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. 
Substantially all disclosures required by GAAP omitted. 4
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General 
Operating

Capital 
Projects Total

Liabilities
Accounts Payable 123,060$             -$                    123,060$             
Retainage Payable 18,086                -                      18,086                
Harrisburg Parking Garage Deposit 5,325                  -                      5,325                  
Due to Taxpayers 7,947                  -                      7,947                  
Other Liabilities 1,475                  -                      1,475                  

Total Liabilities 155,893              -                      155,893              

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Assessments 210,002              -                      210,002              

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 210,002              -                      210,002              

Fund Balances
Nonspendable

Prepaid Costs 35,445                -                      35,445                
Donor Restricted Fund Balances

Cultural District activities 2,545                  -                      2,545                  
Designated

Capital Improvements 806,015              (193,602)             612,413              
Designated Funds 237,000              -                      237,000              
Budget Stabilization 291,506              -                      291,506              
Contingency 107,256              -                      107,256              
Vehicle Replacement 4                         -                      4                         
Building Pre-Development 26,597                -                      26,597                
H-GAC Livable Centers -                      -                      -                      
Capital Asset Replacement 70,000                -                      70,000                

Fund Balances without Restrictions or Designations
Unassigned 752,826              (179,036)             573,790              

Total Fund Balances 2,329,195            (372,638)             1,956,557            

2,695,090$          (372,638)$            2,322,452$          

September 30, 2020

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows 
of Resources, and Fund Balances

East End District
Governmental Funds Balance Sheet

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. 
Substantially all disclosures required by GAAP omitted. 5
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General 
Operating

Capital 
Projects  Total 

Revenues
Assessments, net 22,993$               -$                    22,993$               
Grant funding -                      -                      -                      
Outsourced services 43,488                -                      43,488                
Street market 405                     -                      405                     
Other revenues 5,328                  -                      5,328                  

Total Revenues 72,214                -                      72,214                

Expenditures
Security and public safety 79,509                -                      79,509                
Marketing and perception 58,180                -                      58,180                
Visual and infrastructure imp. 69,463                -                      69,463                
Workforce development -                      -                      -                      
Livable Center -                      8,130                  8,130                  
Program support services 73,665                -                      73,665                
Capital Outlay
Visual and infrastructure imp. -                      -                      -                      
Program support services 1,513                  -                      1,513                  

Total Expenditures 282,330              8,130                  290,460              

Net Change In Fund Balances (210,116)             (8,130)                 (218,246)             

Fund Balances
Beginning of period 2,539,311            (364,508)             2,174,803            
End of Period 2,329,195            (372,638)             1,956,557            

East End District
Governmental Fund Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
For the Month Ended September 30, 2020

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. 
Substantially all disclosures required by GAAP omitted. 6
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General 
Operating

Capital 
Projects  Total 

Revenues
Assessments, net 2,905,719$          -$                    2,905,719$          
Grant funding 4,167                  96,542                100,709              
Outsourced services 572,231              -                     572,231              
Street market 19,070                -                     19,070                
Other revenues 57,604                -                     57,604                

Total Revenues 3,558,791            96,542                3,655,333            

Expenditures/Expenses
Current
Security and public safety 848,960              -                     848,960              
Marketing and perception 626,350              -                     626,350              
Visual and infrastructure imp. 873,302              -                     873,302              
Workforce development -                     -                     -                     
Livable Center -                     117,120              117,120              
Program support services 909,845              -                     909,845              

Capital Outlay
Visual and infrastructure imp. 59,722                -                     59,722                
Program support services 2,708                  -                     2,708                  

Total Expenditures/Expenses 3,320,886            117,120              3,438,006            

Net Change In Fund Balances 237,905              (20,578)               217,327              

Fund Balances
Beginning of period 2,091,290            (352,060)             1,739,230            
End of period 2,329,195            (372,638)             1,956,557$          

East End District
Governmental Fund Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
For the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2020

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. 
Substantially all disclosures required by GAAP omitted. 7

50



217,327$         

(40,732)           
48,089             
(8,010)             
50,729             
(5,544)             

(110,099)          
(609)                

(2,637)             
(8,243)             
28,675             

168,947          

168,947          

1,613,413        

1,782,360$      

East End District
Governmental Funds Statement of Cash Flows
For the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2020

Accounts Payable

Due to Others

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net Change in Fund Balance

Graffiti Accounts Receivable
Receivable - EEIC
Other Accounts Receivable

Assessments Receivable

Due to Tax Payers

Grants Receivable

NET CASH INCREASE (DECREASE)

Cash balances as of September 30, 2020

Cash balances as of September 30, 2019

Prepaid Expenses
Deferred Revenue

Net cash provided by operating activities

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. 
Substantially all disclosures required by GAAP omitted. 8

51



Required Supplementary Information

9

52



East End District
Budgetary Comparison Schedules
For the Month Ended September 30, 2020

GENERAL OPERATING

General Operating Revenues
 Original and 
Final Budget Actual Variance

Assessments, net  $                9,500 22,993$              13,493$             
Grant funding                         -   -                     -                    
Outsourced services                  45,000 43,488                (1,512)               
Street market                   5,000 405                     (4,595)               
Other revenues                   3,074 5,328                  2,253                 

Total Revenues 62,574                72,214                9,639                 

General Operating Expenditures
Current

Security and public safety                  73,550 79,509                (5,959)               
Marketing and perception                  41,649 58,180                (16,531)             
Visual and infrastructure imp.                  80,075 69,463                10,612               
Workforce development 87,452                -                     87,452               
Program support services                  75,022 73,665                1,357                 

Capital Outlay
Visual and infrastructure imp. -                     -                     -                    
Program support services -                     1,513                  (1,513)               

Total Expenditures 357,748              282,330              75,418               

Net Change In Fund Balances (295,174)             (210,116)             85,058               

Fund Balances
Beginning of period 2,539,311            2,539,311            -                    
End of Period 2,244,138$          2,329,195$          85,058$             

CAPITAL PROJECTS

Capital Projects Revenues
 Original and 
Final Budget Actual Variance

Grant funding -$                    -$                    -$                  
Capital Projects Expenditures

Livable center 10,000                8,130                  1,870                 

Net Change In Fund Balances (10,000)               (8,130)                 1,870                 

Fund Balances
Beginning of period (364,508)             (364,508)             125,166             
End of Period (374,508)$           (372,638)$           127,036$           

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. 
Substantially all disclosures required by GAAP omitted. 10
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 Original and 
Final Budget 

Actual 
Year-to-Date  Variance 

 Projected 
Budget Year 
2019-2020 

Assessments, net  $        2,915,062  $        2,905,719  $               (9,343)  $        2,915,062 
Grant funding                        -                     4,167                     4,167                        -   
Outsourced services               521,340               572,231                   50,891               521,340 
Street market                 46,100                 19,070                 (27,030)                 46,100 
Other revenues                 53,490                 57,604                     4,114                 53,490 

           3,535,992            3,558,791                   22,799            3,535,992 

 Security and public safety               829,024               848,960                 (19,936)               829,024 
 Marketing and perception               683,550               626,350                   57,200               683,550 
Visual and infrastructure imp.               955,717               873,302                   82,415               955,717 

 Workforce development                 87,452                        -                     87,452                 87,452 
 Livable Center                 10,000                        -                     10,000                 10,000 
 Program support services               966,651               909,845                   56,806               966,651 

 Visual and infrastructure imp.                 60,900                 59,722                     1,178                 60,900 
 Program support services                   2,900                   2,708                       192                   2,900 

           3,596,194            3,320,886                 275,308            3,596,194 

               (60,202)               237,905                 298,107                (60,202)

           2,091,290            2,091,290                          -              2,091,290 
 $        2,031,088  $        2,329,195  $             298,107  $        2,031,088 

 Original and 
Final Budget 

Actual 
Year-to-Date  Variance 

 Projected 
Budget Year 
2018-2019 

Grant funding  $             48,000  $             96,542  $               48,542  $             48,000 

 Livable center               285,000               117,120                 167,880               285,000 

             (237,000)                (20,578)                 216,422              (237,000)

             (352,060)              (352,060)                          -                (352,060)
 $          (589,060)  $          (372,638)  $             216,422  $          (589,060)

East End District
Budgetary Comparison Schedules
For the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2020

GENERAL OPERATING

Operating Revenues

Total Revenues

Operating Expenditures
 Current 

 Capital Outlay 

Total Expenditures

Net Change In Fund Balances

Fund Balances
Beginning of period

Fund Balances
Beginning of period
End of Period

End of Period

CAPITAL PROJECTS

Capital Projects Revenues

Capital Projects Expenditures

Net Change In Fund Balances

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. 
Substantially all disclosures required by GAAP omitted. 11
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9/30/2019 10/1/2019 10/1/2019
10/1/2019 - 
9/30/2020

Total Fund 
Balances*

Reallocations 
by Board

Total Fund 
Balance

Revenue & 
Expenditures 

General 
Operating

Capital 
Projects Total

Nonspendable
Prepaid Costs  $     27,203  $              -           27,203  $             8,243  $     35,445  $           -    $      35,445 
Donor Restricted Fund Balances
Cultural District activities       132,500                 -         132,500            (129,955)           2,545               -              2,545 
Designated
Capital Improvements       398,783         212,208       610,991                 1,422       806,015     (193,602)        612,413 
Designated Funds       219,168          17,832       237,000                      -         237,000               -          237,000 
Budget Stabilization       269,702          21,804       291,506                      -         291,506               -          291,506 
Contingency         89,370          17,886       107,256                      -         107,256               -          107,256 
Vehicle Replacement                -            55,400         55,400              (55,396)                 4               -                    4 
Building Pre-Development         30,000                 -           30,000                (3,403)         26,597               -            26,597 
H-GAC Livable Centers         41,400         (41,400)                -                        -                  -                 -                   -   

Capital Asset Replacement         62,500            7,500         70,000                      -           70,000               -            70,000 

Fund Balances without Restrictions or Designations                -                 -                   -   
Unassigned       468,604       (291,230)       177,374             396,416       752,826     (179,036)        573,790 

 $ 1,739,229  $              -    $ 1,739,229  $          217,327  $ 2,329,195  $ (372,638)  $ 1,956,557 

Board 
Approved 
Allocations 
(FY19/20 
Budget)

Additional 
Board 

Allocations 
(during FY19/20)

Restricted 
Revenue Expenses

Total as of 
9/30/2020

         277,991               (104,906)          173,085 
         150,000                104,906           96,542          351,448 

          60,000        (71,120)           (11,120)

                 -                     -   
          48,000        (24,000)            24,000 
          75,000            75,000 
 $      610,991  $                     -    $       96,542        (95,120)  $       612,413 

                  -   

Changes in Fund Balance
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020

Total Fund Balances 9/30/2020

East End District

Total

Transportation Improvement Program
Harrisburg Parking Garage (Eastwood Intermodal Terminal)

Bike Plan / Infrastructure

Capital Improvements - Detail of Activity
Unallocated Capital Improvement Funds

Sidewalks: Hagerman/Safe Route to Schools

Roundabout

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. 
Substantially all disclosures required by GAAP omitted. 13
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BANK
INVESTMENT 

#
TYPE RATE

PURCHASE 
DATE

MATURITY 
DATE

AMOUNT
MARKET 
VALUE

CASH ON HAND 9/30/2020 9/30/2020
Space City Credit Star Savings #26091007 5$                5$               
Frost Bank Checking Account #50 2687674 0.01% 160,709       160,709      
Frost Bank FTA Deposit Account #50 2687666 0.01% 13,147         13,147        
Total Cash on Hand 173,862$     173,862$     

Beginning Balance 251,641$          
Interest 1                       

Deposits 278,807            
Withdrawals (356,587)           

Ending Balance 173,862            173,862$     173,862$     

GENERAL FUND INVESTMENTS 9/30/2020 9/30/2020
Certificates of Deposit None A 0.00% -$             -$            
TexPool #79008 B 0.15% 48,027         48,027        
Space City Credit Union Money Market #26091007 B 0.99% 250,000       250,000      
Frost Bank Money Market #50 2687682 C 0.18% 1,332,254    1,332,254    

1,630,281$   1,630,281$  

Beginning Balance 1,830,265$       
Interest 222                   

Deposits -                    

Withdrawals (200,205)           
Total General Fund Investments 1,630,281         1,630,281$   1,630,281$  

Total Cash on Hand and GF Investments 1,804,143$   1,804,143$  

TYPE A=Certificate of Deposit
TYPE B=Direct Public Investment Fund
TYPE C=Other

Investment Officer Date Training Date

Investment Officer Date Training Date

This report and the District's Investment Policy are submitted to the Board for its review and to make any changes as determined by the 
Board to be necessary and prudent for the management of District Funds.
The amounts reflected in the investment report reflect the financial institution's statement balances, not the book balances reflected in the 
Governmental Funds Balance Sheet.

East End District
Investment Report
9/1/2020 - 9/30/2020

The investments reported above for the period stated are in compliance with the investment strategy expressed in the Distrct's Investment 
Policy and the Public Funds Investment Act.

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. 
Substantially all disclosures required by GAAP omitted. 14
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Balance at Balance at
10/01/19 Additions 09/30/20

Capital assets being depreciated
Furniture & Fixtures 124,369$             650$                125,019$             
Software & Websites 2,950$                -$                 2,950$                
Vehicles 386,709$             56,259$            442,968$             
Equipment 117,202$             3,358$              120,560$             
Leasehold Improvements 20,604$              -$                 20,604$              
Land Improvements 3,970,649$          -$                 3,970,649$          

4,622,483$          60,267$            4,682,750$          
Less accumulated depreciation

Furniture & Fixtures (65,757)$             (6,728)$             (72,485)$             
Software & Websites (344)$                  (983)$               (1,328)$               
Vehicles (281,013)$           (40,222)$           (321,235)$           
Equipment (67,863)$             (20,002)$           (87,865)$             
Leasehold Improvements (4,512)$               (528)$               (5,040)$               
Land Improvements (1,090,107)$         (204,316)$         (1,294,423)$         

(1,509,596)$         (272,780)$         (1,782,376)$         

Capital assets, net 3,112,887$          (212,513)$         2,900,374$          

East End District
Schedule of Capital Asset Activity
For the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2020

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. 15
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Current 1 - 30 31 - 60 61 - 90 91 and over Total

Grant Receivable FTA - Metropolitan Transit Authority  $             -    $             -    $             -    $             -    $    171,723  $    171,723 

Houston Arts Alliance - Cultural District                -                  -                  -                  -           37,000         37,000 

City of Houston - Parks & Recreation           3,488           4,943                -                  -                  -             8,431 

Southwest Management District           4,676           3,978                -                  -                  -             8,654 

International Management District           3,938           4,408                -                  -                  -             8,346 
Top 5 Accounts Receivable Total  $      12,101  $      13,330  $            -    $            -    $    208,723  $    234,154 

For the Fiscal Year ended September 30, 2020
Accounts Receivable - Top Five Balances
East End District

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. 
Substantially all disclosures required by GAAP omitted. 16
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RESOLUTION APPROVING A LIST OF  

APPROVED BROKER/DEALERS OF THE EAST END DISTRICT 

 

 

 WHEREAS, the East End District (the “District”) is a body politic and corporate and a 

governmental agency of the State of Texas; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has convened on this date at a meeting open to the 

public and wishes to confirm the List of Approved Broker/Dealers for the District attached hereto, 

pursuant to Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code as amended from time to time;  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

EAST END DISTRICT THAT: 

 

Section 1: The Board of Directors of the District hereby confirms the list of financial 

institutions, brokers and dealers attached hereto as Exhibit “A” as the list of qualified brokers that 

are authorized to engage in investment transactions with the District. 

 

Section 2: The provisions of this Resolution shall be effective as of its date of adoption 

and shall remain in effect until modified by action of the Board of Directors. 

 

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 22nd day of October, 2020. 

 

 

  

Chairman, Board of Directors 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________ 

Secretary, Board of Directors 

 

 

 

 

(SEAL) 
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EXHIBIT “A” 

 

LIST OF AUTHORIZED BROKERS/DEALERS 

 

 

Allegiance Bank 

BB & T Bank 

BBVA Compass Bank 

Comerica Bank 

Bank of America 

East West Bank 

Frost Bank 

IBC Bank 

JP Morgan Chase Bank 

Space City Credit Union 

Wells Fargo  

Woodforest Bank 

 

The above list shall include any successor bank 
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CERTIFICATE FOR RESOLUTION 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 

 § 

COUNTY OF HARRIS § 

 

 I, the undersigned officer of the Board of Directors of the East End District (the “District”), hereby certify as follows: 

 

1. The Board of Directors of the District convened via video/audio conference meeting on the 22nd day of 

October, 2020, as permitted by the March 16, 2020, Declaration by the Governor of the State of Texas which suspended 

certain provisions of Chapter 551, Texas Government Code, and the roll was called of the duly constituted officers and 

members of the Board, to wit: 

 

Position 1 Vacant  

Position 2 Blanca Blanco  

Position 3 Stephen Quezada  

Position 4 William McConnell  

Position 5 Domenic Laurenzo  

Position 6 Joe Meppelink  

Position 7 Lani Baker  

Position 8 Jose Valdez  

Position 9 Devin Licata   

Position 10 Vacant  

Position 11 Taryn Sims  

Position 12 Elliot Barner  

Position 13 Vacant  

Position 14 Marjorie Pena  

Position 15 Susan Sahwani-Garcia  

 

and all of said persons were present, except Director(s) _________________________________, thus constituting a 

quorum.  Whereupon, among other business, the following was transacted at the meeting: a written 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING A LIST OF APPROVED BROKER/DEALERS OF THE EAST END DISTRICT 

 

was introduced for the consideration of the Board.  It was then duly moved and seconded that the Resolution be adopted; 

and, after due discussion, the motion, carrying with it the adoption of the Resolution, prevailed and carried unanimously. 

 

2. That a true, full and correct copy of the aforesaid Resolution adopted at the meeting described in the above 

and foregoing paragraph is attached to and follows this certificate; that the Resolution has been duly recorded in the Board's 

minutes of the meeting; that the persons named in the above and foregoing paragraph are the duly chosen, qualified and 

acting officers and members of the Board as indicated therein; that each of the officers and members of the Board was duly 

and sufficiently notified officially and personally, in advance, of the time, place and purpose of the aforesaid meeting, and 

that the Resolution would be introduced and considered for adoption at the meeting, and each of the officers and members 

consented, in advance, to the holding of the meeting for such purpose; that the meeting was open to the public as required 

by law; and that public notice of the time, place and subject of the meeting was given as required by Chapter 551, Texas 

Government Code, and Section 49.063, Texas Water Code. 

 

 SIGNED AND SEALED the 22nd day of October, 2020. 

 

  

_____ Secretary, Board of Directors 

(SEAL) 
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RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE INVESTMENT POLICY 

OF THE EAST END DISTRICT 

 

 

WHEREAS, the East End District (the “District”) has been legally created and operates 

pursuant to the general laws of the State of Texas applicable to municipal management districts; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors has convened on this date at a meeting open to the 

public and wishes to confirm the Investment Policy for the District attached hereto, pursuant to 

Chapter 49, Texas Water Code, and Chapter 2256, Texas Government Code, as amended from 

time to time; Now, Therefore, 

 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE EAST END DISTRICT THAT 

 

Section 1: The Board of Directors of the District hereby confirms that the Investment 

Policy dated October 27, 2011, continues to be in full force and effect with no changes. 

 

Section 2: The provisions of this Resolution shall be effective as of the date of adoption 

and shall remain in effect until modified by action of the Board of Directors. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 22nd day of October, 2020. 

 

 

 

______________________________________  

 Chairman, Board of Directors 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Secretary, Board of Directors 

 

 

 

 

(SEAL) 
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CERTIFICATE FOR RESOLUTION 

 

THE STATE OF TEXAS § 

 § 

COUNTY OF HARRIS § 

 
 I, the undersigned officer of the Board of Directors of the East End District (the “District”), hereby certify as 
follows: 
 

1. The Board of Directors of the District convened on the 22nd day of October, 2020, at the District’s 
offices via video/audio conference meeting, as permitted by the March 16, 2020, Declaration by the Governor of the 
State of Texas which suspended certain provisions of Chapter 551, Texas Government Code, and the roll was called 
of the duly constituted officers and members of the Board, to wit: 
 

Position 1 Vacant  

Position 2 Blanca Blanco  

Position 3 Stephen Quezada  

Position 4 William McConnell  

Position 5 Domenic Laurenzo  

Position 6 Joe Meppelink  

Position 7 Lani Baker  

Position 8 Jose Valdez  

Position 9 Devin Licata   

Position 10 Vacant  

Position 11 Taryn Sims  

Position 12 Elliot Barner  

Position 13 Vacant  

Position 14 Marjorie Pena  

Position 15 Susan Sahwani-Garcia  

 
and all of said persons were present, except Director(s) ______________________________, thus constituting a 
quorum.  Whereupon, among other business, the following was transacted at the meeting:  a written 

 

RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE INVESTMENT POLICY OF THE EAST END DISTRICT 
 
was introduced for the consideration of the Board.  It was then duly moved and seconded that the Resolution be 
adopted; and, after due discussion, the motion, carrying with it the adoption of the Resolution, prevailed and carried 
unanimously. 
 

2. That a true, full, and correct copy of the aforesaid Resolution adopted at the meeting described in the 
above and foregoing paragraph is attached to and follows this certificate; that the Resolution has been duly recorded 
in the Board's minutes of the meeting; that the persons named in the above and foregoing paragraph are the duly 
chosen, qualified and acting officers and members of the Board as indicated therein; that each of the officers and 
members of the Board was duly and sufficiently notified officially and personally, in advance, of the time, place and 
purpose of the aforesaid meeting, and that the Resolution would be introduced and considered for adoption at the 
meeting, and each of the officers and members consented, in advance, to the holding of the meeting for such purpose; 
that the meeting was open to the public as required by law; and that public notice of the time, place, and subject of 
the meeting was given as required by Chapter 551, Texas Government Code. 
 
 SIGNED AND SEALED this 22nd day of October, 2020. 

 
 
  
______ Secretary, Board of Directors 

(SEAL) 
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Weingarten Art Group 

(Presentation) 
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East End Houston Cultural 
Arts  District (est. 2014) is 
ready to realize its full 
potential.

This Plan provides the 
roadmap to the next 10 
years, reflecting the 
voices of the community.

Seven-month Plan 
process:

• Data Gathering

• Community Outreach

• Assessment,  
Research,  and Analysis 

• Drafts and Feedback

• Final Report:  
September 30, 2020
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Prior Plans
Eight past plans and studies on various overlapping areas of the East End District

Most recent:  Second Ward Complete Communities Plan (July 2018)
• Strategically move the neighborhood toward a “healthier, more prosperous, 

resilient, and equitable future.” 
• Geographic scope:  Second Ward only

How is this Plan different?
• Full District footprint
• Directed focus on the cultural arts exclusively
• Detailed timelines and first steps
• Examples of model programs
• Benefits and rationale for cultural initiatives
Note:  Urban and social planning concepts have obvious overlap;  however, this 
Plan’s expertise is directed almost exclusively toward the cultural arts. 

Importantly, it is relevant to note that there is statistically significant overlap in this 
Plan with related findings and conclusions of the former plans. 
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Goals of the Plan 

• Identify the East End’s 
creative assets and 
opportunities.

• Discuss the threats to the 
cultural vitality of the 
District, its residents and 
cultural assets.

• Establish initiatives to 
sustain the East End’s rich 
cultural landscape and to 
amplify it as a destination 

for arts and cultural tourism.
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Vision for Cultural Arts in the East End:

“Reflect and reinforce the established community, their shared cultural
treasures and the distinctive identity of the District as vital elements to the
East End’s character, quality of life and economy. ”
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Community Outreach
Guiding voices: East End residents, makers, business owners, developers, artists, arts
enthusiasts, cultural activists, educators, youth, seniors, administrators and history keepers.

• Public Survey
• 7 Focus Groups
• 2 Artist Advisory Groups
• 1 Youth Advisory Group
• Nearly two dozen Stakeholder Interviews

… All during the COVID 19 crisis so, all virtual.
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Public Survey

• Broad cultural arts 
definition:  Culinary, 
Visual, Performative, 
Street Art, Literary

• Bilingual survey

• Current insights and 
priorities to consider

• Close-ended questions 
with one open-ended 
at the conclusion
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Data 
Summary:

What
We
Heard
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Principal Recommendations

Twenty-four Initiatives : 

Framework = Four Thematic 
Principles:

I. Dale Shine: Venues + 
Improvements 
II. Mi Calle: Programming
III. Thriving Together: 
Collaboration with Partners 
IV. Building on our Heritage:  
Leadership, Administration + 
Communications
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Principal Recommendations
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Principal Recommendations
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Principal Recommendations
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Principal Recommendations
96



Looking Ahead
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Looking Ahead
Cultivation of funding resources came up 
repeatedly in our Plan process.

Balanced array of private and public 
development will be necessary:
• Individuals
• Corporations
• Foundations
• Government Grants
• Earned Income from Events (limited)

Percentage funding for Hispanic 
artists/arts organizations historically very 
low compared to population percentage 
in greater Houston area.
Key considerations:
• Educating the public  => Individual 

philanthropy
• Partnership with business leaders => 

Corporate support
• Dedicated marketing effort => 

Cultivation of foundations
• Empower EE artists, makers, arts 

organizations with better fundraising 
skills => greater opportunities

• Harness increased HAA and MoCA
support

Critical to each of these:
• Cultural Arts Administrator
• Development/Grants Initiative
• Targeted Communications Program
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Conclusion
The East End’s strong, undiluted cultural and arts traditions are its 
primary appeal and the foundation of its collective spirit. 

However, it is not without its fragility: 
• Culturally-insensitive development
• Obsolescence of cultural infrastructure
• Declining financial support for its artists/makers

… all jeopardize its ecosystem and the unique qualities that make it so 
special. 

The collective cultural arts voice of the East End and support of 
community leaders and other civic partners will help invigorate and 
sustain the East End to ensure a more solid cultural future.
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Next Steps
This Cultural Arts Strategic Plan is designed to engage, inspire and motivate leadership to 
address its vision and recommendations for implementation. 

Significant work remains. to be done.  The initiatives need to. be considered in a phased 
approach.   Near term next steps:

• Organize tactical planning efforts (including the 
Cultural Arts Task Force) to pursue highest priority, 
near term initiatives and to set the stage for the 
medium and long-term initiatives.

• Develop a detailed implementation plan with arts 
advisory professionals - identifying concrete art 
projects, assigning activities, sequencing and 
assessing resources required.

• Identify, recruit and educate leaders for highest 
priority initiatives.

• Move forward on recommendations as feasible.

• Review and adoption of the Plan (in 
concept) by the East End District Board 
of Directors.

•Communications strategy to present 
the Plan to the community, civic 
associations, key stakeholder groups 
highlighting the highest priority 
recommendations - will lay the 
foundation for a collaborative 
development/advocacy effort to come.

• Hire a Cultural Arts Administrator to be 
the primary initiator of Plan actions.
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Item #10 

Urban Partnership Community Development Corporation (UP CDC) 

(Amendment #2) 
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AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO JOINT PROJECTS AGREEMENT 
BY AND BETWEEN 

THE URBAN PARTNERSHIPS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
AND THE EAST END DISTRICT 

 
The East End District, a political subdivision of the state of Texas, (the “District”) entered into a 
Joint Projects Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Urban Partnerships Community Development 
Corporation, a 501(c)(3) corporation, (“Consultant”) effective October 1, 2017, regarding services 
related to the District’s linear park and street market located on the Navigation Boulevard 
esplanade and certain economic development efforts. The parties now desire to amend the 
Agreement to revise the services to be provided by Consultant and adjust the compensation to be 
paid to Consultant (this “Amendment”).  This Amendment shall become effective as of October 
1, 2020. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises, the promises and 
covenants contained herein and $10.00 (Ten Dollars) and other good and valuable consideration, 
the receipt and sufficiency is hereby acknowledged, the District and Consultant agree as follows. 
 
Section 1. Section 1 of the Agreement is amended to read as follows: 
 
 Section 1. CDC Market Obligations. The CDC agrees that it will, on behalf of the 
 District, perform the following services related to the Market: 
 

(a) Promote the Market and make recommendations regarding additional revenue sources 
that may be available to fund the Market and to help pursue the goals of the District; 

(b) Research opportunities for capital improvements and physical improvements on the 
Esplanade to present for approval; 

(c) Research and draft a plan for expansion of the linear park to additional city blocks within 
the District; 

(d) Work to grow and expand East End small business opportunities for East End residents; and 
(e) Perform contract administration services in connection with sub-license and operating 

agreements for kiosks located on the Esplanade (“Kiosk Agreements”), including, 
without limitation, monitoring compliance with all contractual provisions of such Kiosk 
Agreements (e.g., reviewing menus, etc.); make monthly reports – including 
recommended action where appropriate - regarding such compliance to the District 
President; and, upon request of the District President, notify sub-licensees that are not in 
compliance with contractual provisions and monitor their actions to come into 
compliance. 

 
Section 2. Section 4 of the Agreement is amended to read as follows: 
 
 Section 4.  Economic Development Services.  The CDC agrees to provide the 
 following economic development services (the “ED Services”): 
 

(a) Continue to work to implement the multiple livable centers studies that the District has 
engaged in including: 
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1) The expansion of the Esplanade to create additional public space for cultural 
enjoyment and to continue in the effort to build a self-sustainable model for 
East End Farmers Market and programing of the Esplanade. 

2) Promote more access and development of the Buffalo Bayou (as called for in 
the East End, Fifth Ward and Buffalo Bayou Partnerships joint Livable Centers 
Study). 

(b) Pursue the full implementation of current and future Livable Centers studies in the East End. 
1) Pursue funding opportunities as may be offered for new livable centers studies 

for areas which are a priority to the District such as Magnolia and Gulf Gate. 
(c) Promote both new retail development and the filling of existing vacant retail 

development, with a special focus on attracting the businesses and services which either 
do not currently exist in the District or for which the District is underserved. 

(d) Promote the development of a quality grocery store in the District through engaging with 
grocery store chains and exploring creative ways to develop and finance the development 
of a grocery store. 

(e) Promote job growth in the District to include all wage levels of jobs with a particular 
focus on creating livable wage jobs for residents in the District through: 

1) Engaging and working with private developers; 
2) Promoting organizations that engage in workforce development; 
3) Promoting new development through the Qualified Opportunity Zone program 

that benefits existing businesses and residents in the District; and 
4) Building projects that promote commerce, job growth and community wealth 

building. 
(f) Engage with commercial multifamily and single-family housing developers to encourage 

the development of high-quality market rate housing in the District. 
(g) Promote transportation, place-making, and beautification through assisting in grant 

applications and building public and private partnerships to serve the needs of the District 
and generate capital for implementation of projects. 

(h) Advocate on behalf of the District with the City of Houston, Texas Department of 
Transportation (“TxDOT”), Harrisburg Tax Increment Reinvestment Zone (“TIRZ 23”), 
Metropolitan Transit Authority of Harris County (“METRO”) and other organizations 
for those things which help the District become a better place to live, work and play.   

(i) Support and promote catalyst projects in key areas of the District that spark targeted 
industry investment and reflect the District’s authentic aesthetic. 

(j) Encourage meaningful and destination-focused investment around District rail stations, 
including office, retail, maker studios, residential and parking. 

(k) Continue to advocate for investments in District infrastructure, such as improving roads, 
flood mitigation, and beautification projects that enhance the District’s overall 
attractiveness. 

 
Section 3. Section 6 of the Agreement is amended to read as follows: 
 

Section 6. Compensation. The District agrees to pay the CDC for its services provided 
pursuant to the Agreement, including, without limitation, the ED Services and Other 
Services, a fixed fee of $130,000.00 for the period from November 1, 2020, through 
September 30, 2021. As an independent contractor, the CDC is solely and exclusively 
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responsible for all taxes owed on the compensation paid under this Agreement, including 
without limitation all related interest, penalties and fines, and the CDC acknowledges that 
the District will make no withholdings on its behalf.  The District will pay the CDC one 
twenty-fourth  (1/24) of the annual contract amount twice per month with the District’s 
regular check runs. If this Agreement is terminated prior to September 30, 2021, by either 
party, the total compensation to be paid to the CDC shall be reduced by prorating, based a 
365-day year, such compensation through the date of termination. 

 
Section 4. All other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and 

effect. 
 
 

[Signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have entered into, such agreement being in multiple 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be an original. 
 
 
EAST END DISTRICT 
 
 
By:         
 
Printed Name:       
 
Title:         

 
 

URBAN PARTNERSHIPS COMMUNITY
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
 
By:        
 
Printed Name:      
 
Title:        
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Item #11 

Service Agreement with Coastal Builders 

(Amendment #17) 
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AMENDMENT NO. 17 TO THE SERVICES AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN PATRICK EZZELL D/B/A/ COASTAL BUILDERS AND 

THE EAST END DISTRICT 

The East End District, formerly the Greater East End Management District, (the 
“District”) entered into a Services Agreement with Patrick Ezzell d/b/a Coastal Builders 
(“Consultant”) on April 5, 2010, as amended, regarding the provision of project management 
services for District projects that are federally funded as well as for other District capital projects 
that are not federally funded (the “Agreement”).  The parties now desire to amend the Agreement 
with this Amendment No. 17 (the “Amendment”) to revise the Services (as such term is defined 
in the Agreement) to be provided by Consultant, to adjust the compensation for such Services, 
and to revise terms related to Consultant’s use of Office Space (as such term is defined in the 
Agreement).  This Amendment shall be effective as of October 1, 2020 (the “Effective Date”).   

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises, the promises and 
covenants contained herein and $10.00 (Ten Dollars) and other good and valuable consideration, 
the receipt and sufficiency is hereby acknowledged, the District and Consultant agree as follows. 

Section 1.  Exhibit “A” to the Agreement is amended to add the additional scope of for 
transportation improvements grants management that Consultant will provide Services and 
accordingly increased the compensation as shown below:   

 

Project Description Contract Amount 

Transportation 

Improvement 

Programs and 
Grants 

Provide project management, construction 
management and federal administration 
services for the $402,674 METRO 5310 
funded project for 2020-2021. 

$40,268 

 

Section 2.  All other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

[Signature page follows]
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EAST END DISTRICT  
 
 
 
By: ____________________________ 
 
Printed Name: ____________________ 
 
Title: __________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PATRICK EZZELL D/B/A COASTAL 
BUILDERS 
 
 
By: ________________________________ 
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Item #12 

Consider Audit Services for the EED & EEIC 
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EAST END DISTRICT 
 

HARRIS COUNTY, TEXAS 
 

PROPOSAL FOR AUDIT SERVICES  
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October 22, 2020 
 
 
Board of Directors 
East End District 
Harris County, Texas 
 
 
We are pleased to present our proposal for professional services for East End District (the “District”).  We 
specialize in providing auditing and agreed-upon procedure services to special purpose governmental 
entities, including municipal utility districts, management districts, improvement districts, water authorities, 
development authorities, and tax increment redevelopment zones in the Houston, Austin, and Dallas areas. 
Our client base has grown organically from 100 clients in 2009 to over 180 clients as of today, solely from 
referrals rather than mergers and acquisitions, which demonstrates the strength of the relationships that we 
have built with our clients over the years. 
 
The owners of McGrath & Co., PLLC are Mark McGrath, CPA, Colette Garcia, CPA, Tayo Ilori, CPA, CFE, and 
Crystal Horn, CPA, all formerly of Null-Lairson, P.C.  McGrath & Co. was established on September 1, 2009 by 
Mark McGrath who determined that the best way to serve his clients was to establish a small niche firm that 
focused exclusively on special purpose districts. Colette Garcia joined him as a partner in establishing the 
practice. Tayo Ilori and Crystal Horn became partners in January of 2017. Our partners bring a wealth of 
experience in serving our clients: 
 
 Mark has over 35 years’ experience working with special purpose governments, which includes 10 

years as a partner with Null-Lairson, P.C. and 3 years as a partner with White Petrov McHone, P.C. 
Mark has been a CPA for over 38 years. He was one of a handful of CPAs in the State chosen to assist 
Texas Commission on Environmental Quality staff with a complete re-write of the agency’s Water 
District Financial Management Guide to address the complexities involved with the implementation 
of GASB Statement No. 34. Mark is the managing partner of McGrath & Co. 

 Colette Garcia has been a CPA for over 28 years and has more than 13 years’ experience in auditing 
special purpose districts.  Her experience prior to public accounting includes a broad background in 
corporate and governmental accounting in a wide variety of roles. Colette oversees the audit practice. 

 Tayo Ilori started his public accounting career in 2008, while still attending the University of 
Houston, and joined McGrath & Co at its inception. He completed his Masters in 2010, became both a 
CPA and CFE in 2011. Tayo left the firm for a few years to work with KPMG LLP and with Arnie & 
Company, P.C., specializing in forensic accounting and litigation support. He returned to McGrath & 
Co. in 2013.  Tayo is responsible for the supervision of audit engagements.  

 Crystal Horn began her public accounting career in 2008 after graduating from the University of 
Houston and has been with McGrath & Co. since its inception. She became a CPA in 2016. Crystal 
manages agreed-upon procedure engagements relating to developer reimbursements. 

 
As a part of our dedication to service, we are active members of the Association of Water Board Directors, 
the Government Finance Officers Association of Texas, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
and the Texas Society of Certified Public Accountants. 
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As noted in the enclosed engagement letter, the estimated fees for our services will range between $22,500 
and $25,000, which includes $2,500 for the East End Improvement Corporation, based on the estimated 
amount of time to perform the work. All administrative costs, such as printing, postage, and attending board 
meetings are included in our fee estimate. 
 
Please feel free to call if you have any questions regarding the engagement, our qualifications, or the contents 
of this letter. 
 
 
Best Regards,  
 

 
 
McGrath & Co., PLLC 
Houston, Texas 
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October 22, 2020 
 
 
Board of Directors  
East End District 
Harris County, Texas 
 
 
We are pleased to confirm our understanding of the services we are to provide East End District (the 
“District”) for the year ending September 30, 2020. We will audit the financial statements of the 
governmental activities and each major fund, including the related notes to the financial statements, 
which collectively comprise the basic financial statements of the District as of and for the year ending 
September 30, 2020.  

 
Accounting standards generally accepted in the United States of America provide for certain required 
supplementary information (RSI), such as management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A), to 
supplement the District’s basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the 
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in 
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. As part of our engagement, we will apply 
certain limited procedures to the District’s RSI in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. These limited procedures will consist of inquiries of 
management regarding the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We will not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide 
us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. The following RSI is 
required by generally accepted accounting principles and will be subjected to certain limited 
procedures, but will not be audited: 

• Management’s discussion and analysis 
• Budgetary comparison schedules 

Audit Objective  
 
The objective of our annual audit is the expression of opinions as to whether your financial 
statements are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles and to report on the fairness of the supplementary information when 
considered in relation to the financial statements as a whole. Our audit will be conducted in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and will 
include tests of the accounting records and other procedures we consider necessary to enable us to 
express such opinions. We will issue a written report upon completion of our audit of the District’s 
financial statements. Our report will be addressed to the Board of Directors of the District. We cannot 
provide assurance that unmodified opinions will be expressed. Circumstances may arise in which it 
is necessary for us to modify our opinions or add emphasis-of-matter paragraphs. If our opinions are 
other than unmodified, we will fully discuss the reasons with you in advance. If, for any reason, we 
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are unable to complete the audit or are unable to form or have not formed opinions, we may decline 
to express opinions or may withdraw from the engagement. 
 

Audit Procedures—General 
 
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements; therefore, our audit will involve judgment about the number of transactions to 
be examined and the areas to be tested. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We will plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement, whether from errors, fraudulent financial reporting, misappropriation 
of assets, or violations of laws or governmental regulations that are attributable to the District or to 
acts by management or consultants acting on behalf of the District. 
 
Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, combined with the inherent limitations of internal 
control, and because we will not perform a detailed examination of all transactions, there is a risk 
that material misstatements may exist and not be detected by us, even though the audit is properly 
planned and performed in accordance with U.S. generally accepted auditing standards. In addition, 
an audit is not designed to detect immaterial misstatements, or violations of laws or governmental 
regulations that do not have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, we 
will inform the appropriate level of management of any material errors, fraudulent financial 
reporting, or misappropriation of assets that come to our attention. We will also inform you of any 
violations of laws or governmental regulations that come to our attention, unless clearly 
inconsequential. Our responsibility as auditors is limited to the period covered by our audit and does 
not extend to any later periods for which we are not engaged as auditors. 
 
Our procedures will include tests of documentary evidence supporting the transactions recorded in 
the accounts, and may include tests of the physical existence of inventories, and direct confirmation 
of receivables and certain other assets and liabilities by correspondence with selected individuals, 
funding sources, creditors, and financial institutions. We may request written representations from 
your attorneys as part of the engagement, and they may bill you for responding to this inquiry. At the 
conclusion of our audit, we will also require certain written representations from you about the 
financial statements and related matters. 
 
Audit Procedures—Internal Control 
 
Our audit will include obtaining an understanding of the District and its environment, including 
internal control, sufficient to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements 
and to design the nature, timing, and extent of further audit procedures. An audit is not designed to 
provide assurance on internal control or to identify deficiencies in internal control. However, during 
the audit, we will communicate to management and those charged with governance internal control 
related matters that are required to be communicated under AICPA professional standards. 
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Audit Procedures—Compliance 
 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, we will perform tests of the District's compliance with the provisions of applicable 
laws, regulations, contracts and agreements. However, the objective of our audit will not be to 
provide an opinion on overall compliance and we will not express such an opinion. 
 

Management Responsibilities 
 

Management is responsible for designing, implementing, and maintaining effective internal controls, 
including monitoring of ongoing activities; for the selection and application of accounting principles; 
and for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in conformity with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles. 
 

Management is also responsible for making all financial records and related information available to 
us and for the accuracy and completeness of that information. You are also responsible for providing 
us with (1) access to all information of which you are aware that is relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements, (2) additional information that we may request for the 
purpose of the audit and (3) unrestricted access to persons within the District from whom we 
determine it necessary to obtain audit evidence. 
 
Your responsibilities include adjusting the financial statements to correct material misstatements 
and confirming to us in the management representation letter that the effects of any uncorrected 
misstatements aggregated by us during the current engagement and pertaining to the latest period 
presented are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as 
a whole. 
 
You are responsible for the design and implementation of programs and controls to prevent and 
detect fraud, and for informing us about all known or suspected fraud affecting the District involving 
(1) management, (2) employees who have significant roles in internal control,  and (3) others where 
the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. Your responsibilities include 
informing us of your knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the District 
received in communications from employees, former employees, regulators, or others. In addition, 
you are responsible for identifying and ensuring that the District complies with applicable laws and 
regulations. 
 
You are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information in conformity with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles. You agree to include our report on the supplementary 
information in any document that contains and indicates that we have reported on the 
supplementary information. You also agree to include the audited financial statements with any 
presentation of the supplementary information that includes our report thereon or make the audited 
financial statements readily available to users of the supplementary information no later than the 
date the supplementary information is issued with our report thereon. Your responsibilities include 
acknowledging to us in the representation letter that (1) you are responsible for presentation of the 
supplementary information in accordance with GAAP, (2) you believe the supplementary 
information, including its form and content, is fairly presented in accordance with GAAP, (3) the 
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methods of measurement or presentation have not changed from those used in the prior period (or, 
if they have changed, the reasons for such changes) and (4) you have disclosed to us any significant 
assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement or presentation of the supplementary 
information.  
 
You agree to assume all management responsibilities for financial statement preparation services 
and any other nonattest services we provide; oversee the services by designating an individual, 
preferably from senior management, with suitable skill, knowledge, or experience; evaluate the 
adequacy and results of the services; and accept responsibility for them. 
 
Engagement Administration and Fees 
 
We expect to begin our audit and issue our reports in accordance with time frames acceptable to the 
District’s management as determined at the outset of our work. Colette Garcia is the engagement 
partner and is responsible for supervising the engagement and signing reports or authorizing 
another partner to supervise the engagements and sign the reports.  
 
Our fees for the above described services will be computed at our standard hourly rates in effect at 
the time the work is performed. We also give consideration to the difficulty and size of the assignment, 
the degree of skill required, time limitations imposed on us by others, the experience and ability of 
the personnel assigned, the nature of the project, the level of cooperation by the District’s personnel, 
and the value of the services to the District. We estimate our fees for these services will range 
between $22,500 and $25,000. Our invoices for these fees will be due and payable upon presentation. 
In accordance with our firm policies, work may be suspended if your account becomes 60 days or 
more overdue and may not be resumed until your account is paid in full. If we elect to terminate our 
services for nonpayment, our engagement will be deemed to have been completed upon written 
notification of termination, even if we have not completed our report. You will be obligated to 
compensate us for all time expended and to reimburse us for all out-of-pocket costs through the date 
of termination. Estimated fees will be based on anticipated cooperation from your personnel and the 
assumption that unexpected circumstances will not be encountered during the audit. If significant 
additional time is necessary, we will discuss it with you and arrive at a new fee estimate before we 
incur the additional costs. 

 
You may request that we perform additional services not contemplated by this engagement letter. If 
this occurs, we will communicate with you regarding the scope of the additional services and the 
estimated fees. We also may issue a separate engagement letter covering the additional services. In 
the absence of any other written documentation from us documenting such additional services, our 
services will continue to be governed by the terms of this engagement letter. 
 
As required by Chapter 2271, Government Code, we hereby verify that we do not boycott Israel and 
will not boycott Israel through the term of this agreement. For purposes of this verification, “boycott 
Israel” means refusing to deal with, terminating business activities with, or otherwise taking any 
action that is intended to penalize, inflict economic harm on, or limit commercial relations specifically 
with Israel, or with a person or entity doing business in Israel or in an Israeli-controlled territory, but 
does not include an action made for ordinary business purposes. 
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McGrath & Co., PLLC (“McGrath”) hereby represents and warrants that at the time of this Agreement 
that McGrath, nor any wholly owned subsidiary, majority-owned subsidiary, parent company or 
affiliate of McGrath: (i) engages in business with Iran, Sudan, or any foreign terrorist organization 
pursuant to the Texas Government Code, or Subchapter F of Chapter 2252 of the Texas Government 
Code; or (ii) is a company listed by the Texas Comptroller pursuant to Sections 2252.153 of the Texas 
Government Code.  The term “foreign terrorist organization” has the meaning assigned to such term 
pursuant to Section 2252.151 of the Texas Government Code. 
 
We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to the District and believe this letter accurately 
summarizes the significant terms of our engagement. If you have any questions, please let us know. 
If you agree with the terms of our engagement as described in this letter, please sign the enclosed 
copy and return it to us. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
McGrath & Co., PLLC 
Certified Public Accountants 

 

 

RESPONSE: 

This letter correctly sets forth the understanding of East End District.  

 

By:  
 
Title:  
 
Date:  
 

 

123



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Item #13 

Longevity Pay Policy 
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Longevity Pay Policy Change for Hourly Employees  
Beginning with the Fiscal Year Starting October 1, 2020 

 

The purpose of this memorandum is to request a new Longevity Pay Policy to incentivize hourly employees. This 
policy recommendation was reviewed over several months with members of the Finance Committee. After 
deliberation of several models, this recommendation is presented in lieu of a previous recommendation for market 
adjustment of pay rates and places the District in a competitive position with the City of Houston and Harris County 
compensation policies.  

 

Background 

Recently, employees have resigned from the District due to other higher wage opportunities. Replacement costs for 
each instance of turnover costs the District approximately $29,515 in lost productivity, temporary contract 
assistance, and management time.  

 

Recommendation 

In order to recruit and retain long-term employees, we are requesting your consideration of the following Longevity 
Pay Policy.  

The East End District shall award $10 per pay period for every complete year of service to full-time, permanent 
hourly employees. Longevity pay appears as a separate item on their pay stub. Automatic increases occur each 
year on the first pay period after the employment anniversary date.  

 

Table 1. below demonstrated a 5-year projection of annual budget impact of this policy:  

  Table 1.  

 

 

 

 

Funding for the FY 20/21 has been included and approved in the budget, however, to implement the policy 
change, revisions of the East End District Employee Handbook, last revised February 28, 2019 must be approved 
by the EED Board of Directors (see attached).   

FY20/21 
Longevity 

Pay 

FY21/22 
Longevity 

Pay 

FY22/23 
Longevity 

Pay 

FY23/24 
Longevity 

Pay 

FY24/25 
Longevity 

Pay 

 $    12,096   $    14,256   $    16,416   $    18,576   $    20,736  
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report your notice to management as soon as possible.  Jury duty will be treated as time 
worked for eight hours.  Upon return to work, you must submit a statement from the 
appropriate court official verifying the date(s) and amount of time you were on jury duty.  
 
4.7. Bereavement: All employees (regular full-time, regular part-time, and interns) will 
be granted up to three (3) days off with pay in the event of a death in the immediate family.  
For the purpose of this section, “immediate family” is defined as the employee’s spouse, 
parent, child, sibling, grandparent, or the employee’s spouse’s parent, child, sibling, or 
grandparent (including step and foster relations).  The employee is responsible for 
providing documentation to meet the criteria of this section. 
 
4.8. Military Leave of Absence: EED recognizes that employees may be obligated to 
serve in the Armed Forces.  Leaves of Absence for military service will be granted.  Any 
employee who enlists in the Armed Forces will be granted a military leave of absence 
without pay. 
 
4.9      Longevity Pay Policy: The East End District shall award $10 per pay period for 
every complete year of service to full-time, permanent hourly employees. Longevity pay 
appears as a separate item on your pay stub. It increases automatically each year on the 
first pay period after your employment anniversary date. 
  

Section 5: Employee Conduct 
 
5.1. Company Expectations: You, as an employee, have certain responsibilities to 
EED, the organization and your fellow co-workers.  Only through jointly assuming 
responsibilities can there be an atmosphere of mutual respect and trust.  In order to achieve 
this vision, we are all responsible for: 

• Establishing a cooperative working relationship with everyone involved in the 
organization; 

• Abiding by the company’s Amended Code of Ethics and Travel, Professional 
Services and Management Policies and all other policies and procedures. 

• Taking care of company assets and property. 
 
In addition, you are expected to abide by the following operating principles: 

• EED is an equal opportunity employer and expects you to share in the 
responsibility of maintaining an work environment free of discrimination and 
harassment; 

• We believe that common courtesy and respect should be afforded to all 
individuals.  You are expected to engage only in appropriate business conduct 
while at work or representing the organization at off-site functions; 

• We expect high standards of honesty and integrity; 
• You are responsible for your actions; 
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Item #14 

President’s Report 
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